DELAWARE CHURCH ARCHIVES

515. OCEAN VIEW PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, 1856--, Atlantic Ave., Ocean View, Baltimore
Hundred.

Organized in 1856 as a branch of the Blackwater Presbyterian Church {entry 495). (1) In that year
the first church was built, (2) being superseded in 1907 by the present one story frame building on the
same site. (3) The present name was adopted in 1909. (4}

Minutes, 1907--, 1 vol.; Register, 1907--, 1 vol.; in possession of pastor, Rev. F. D. Viehe, Lewes.
Financial, 1927--, 1 vol.; in possession of J. M. Evans. Records of incorporation and deeds: Sussex
County Recorder’s office, Deeds Record; vol. DDU ‘EZ p. 441; vol. DDX175, p. 375; vol.. DEO193, p.
194; vol. DIF288, pc270. | L

Scharf, Il, p. 1344.

bid, p—1342.

Erom Campbell, Sept. 8, 1938.

Sussex Co., Deeds, vol. DDU172, o. 441.
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ABOUT OUR CHURCH

Qur Pastor
Qur Tradition
History

Our Purpose

Our Pastor:

Our Pastor, Rev. Kerry Shull has been with the church for over 25
years.

Our Tradition:

The Ocean View Presbyterian Church is a Charistian Church, joining
with all who are followers of Jesus Christ. Along with those other
churches, we believe in the triune God, the God who is Father, Son,
and Holy Spirit. God has created us, has redeemed us, and sustains
Us.

The Ocean View Presbyterian Church is part of one of the main
branches of the Protestant Reformation, the Reformed Tradition.

The term "reformed” vefers to the theological tradition growing out of
the Swiss Reformation in sixteenth century. Reformed churches
sought to reform the church, bringing it in Aarmony with the New
Testament and the early church. Its leaders were Ulrich Zwingli
(1484-1531) in Zurich and John Calvin (1509-1574) in Geneva. The
Reformed Tradition spread throughout England and Furope. It
came to America through the British Isles. A leader of the church in
Scotland was John Xnox (c. 1513-1572). Reformed Churches believe: in
the holy catholic church, that life must be fully oriented around God,
that the Bible is authoritative, that God takes the initiative in



salvation by electing us, that there is a radical distinction between
God and the creature with God as sovereign over all, that theology is
a practical science, and that God's Word and Spirit shape every
aspect of our lives.

The word "Presbyterian” in the title of our church refers to our form
of government. This form took shape in the Scottish church. The
Presbyterian Church was first organized in America in 1706, the
person most responsible being Francis Makernie (c. 1658-1707/8), In
determining how the church governs itself appeal is made to the
practice of Scripture. Governing is done through representative
assemblies. These assemblies are made up of people elected by
congregations and ordained to serve as presbyters. Whether these
presbyters are Ministers of the Word and Sacrament (the pastor) or
Ruling Elders, they serve with equal authority.

The Ocean View Presbyterian Church is affiliated with the
Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.)

Our History:

The Ocean View Presbyterian Church was the first church to be built
in this area. It was formed in 1856 by members of the Blackwater
Presbyterian Church. The money for the original structure was
obtained from going house to house asking for donations. The
building was to be used by other Christians when not in use by the
Presbyterians. The first sermon was preached by the Rev. William
Graham on June 8, 1856. The present sanctuary was constructed in

1907.

In 1974 the church erected the George T. West Fellowship Center,
known familiarly as the Fellowship Center. In 1983 it was enlarged
to its present size.

The need was soon felt for a much larger meeting hall. The hall was
built in 2003 and dedicated on September 7. Church facilities are not
only for use by the congregation. The church knows it as part of its
mission to make these facilities available to groups in the area.

Though the church cemetery is now restricted to members of the
congregation, it has throughout the years been open to all. Buried in
it are slaves and sailors from the ship Red Wing.



Our Purpose:

The Ocean View Presbyterian Church is a Christian congregation.
We see ourselves as having been called and commissioned by Christ
to point to His presence and to carrvy on His ministry in the world
and in our area. While we share with other Christian churches this
identity and mission, there are things about us that make us unique.

Worship is the cornerstone of our life together. In worship we
acknowledge our dependence upon God, give thanks for God's
goodness, and seek to be molded into God's faithful people.

We strive to be a community which manifests God's desire for justice
and righteousness for all persons. In this congregation each person is
seen as having been called and equipped by God to minister in
unique ways. We encourage each other to carry out these ministries
both in the church and in the community,

We identify ourselves as a caring community. We strive to be a
community which manifests God's compassion and care for each
other, both within and outside of the church. "We are a very diverse
congregation, yet we strive to discuss matters and to respect
different opinions. This is a very active congregation. 'We encourage
new ideas and the trying of new things. We cooperate in tasks.
Everyone has the opportunity to be involved. In this congregation
each person is needed. People have responsibilities and are missed
when they are not there. You make a difference. Your presence is
appreciated. Your involvement is vafued. Your absence is fell.

Membership:

We invite you to become a member of the Ocean View Presbyterian
Church.



Belief in the God known through Jesus Charist and in the Holy Spirit
entails membership in Christ's body, the Church. Faith must be lived
out in the company of other believers, within a Christian
congregation.

In becoming a member of a Presbyterian Church, the person
romises the following:

"to be a faithful member of this congregation, share in its worship

and ministry thrvough your prayers and gifts, your study and

service, and so fulfill your calling to be a disciple of Jesus Christ."

Membership is an opportunity to renew one's baptism, reaffirming
the Lordship of Jesus Christ over one's entire life. "We renew our
ministry to Carist. This ministry is carried out by every member. It
is carried out both within the congregation and in the community.
This ministry includes:

" proclaiming the god news,

- taking part in the common life and worship of a particular church,
- praying and studying Scripture and the faith of the Christian
Church,

- supporting the work of the church through the giving of money,
time, and talents,

- participating in the governing responsibilities of the church,

- demonstrating a new quality of life within and through the church,
- responding to God's activity in the world through service to others,
- living responsibly in the personal, family, vocational, politicaf,
cultural, and social relationships of (ife,

- working in the world for peace, justice, freedom, and human
fulfiltment.”

(Book Of Order)

Membership is by profession of faith, reaffirmation of faith in Christ,
or certificate of transfer from another Christian church. If you are
interested in [iving out your baptism in the Ocean View
Presbyterian Church, please talk to the Pastor or one of the Elders.



Oceanview Presbyterian Church

Delaware Public Archives 2007 SC-213

- 1856 organized as a branch of Blackwater Presbyterian Church (WPA) (Zebley) (Scharf)
- Mr. William Graham (Blackwater) preached the dedicatory sermon (Scharf)
- Use of an acre and % of land was given by John Hall (Zebley)

- 1856 July 5™ cornerstone laid

- 1865 - 1871 neither church had a preacher (Scharf)

- 1871 - 1878 Rev. H.J. Gaylord preached (Scharf)

- 1907 Present one story frame building on same site erected (WPA)

- 1907 Cornerstone laid for present day church held July 2 (Zebley/ WPA)

- 1907 Dedication ceremony held December 1°* (Zebley/WPA)

- 1909 present name adopted (WPA)

- 1909 site deeded to the church by John Hall’s daughter Elizabeth A. Evans for $1.00 (V173 p 375)

- 1974 George T. West Fellowship Center added

- 1983 Fellowship Center enlarged

- 2003 Large meeting hall added

- Oldest legible tombstone is of Mary P. Hall - October 3, 1836 (Zebley)

Russ,
I put a call into the church - - -because I cannot establish what their old name was (new

name was adopted 1909 according to WPA). 1 feel like there’s not much here but don’t
know where else to go at this point. Let me know if you have any ideas. Thanks
Karen
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Donovan T Karen (DOS)

From: Lee Siacey (DOS)

Sent:  Friday, February 09, 2007 2:41 AM
To: Donavan T Karen (DOS)

Subject: Ocean View Presbyterian Church

Karen,

Here's the timeline for Ocean View Presbyterian Church:
{I also have when the trustees were elected, but | was unsure of whether or not that information was necessary).

1856- The church was organized as a branch of the Blackwater Presbyterian Church,
The use of an acre and cne-half of land was given by John Hali.
-Zebley’s p. 305.

July 5, 1856- The corner-stone was laid and the church was opened for services the fall of that year.
-Zebley’'s p. 305-306

July 2, 1907- The corner-stone for the present day church was laid.
-Zebley's p. 306

Dec. 1, 1907- The dedication ceremony for the present day church was held.
-Zebley's p. 306

August 14, 1909- Elizabeth Evans, the daughter of John Hall, sold the land for $1 to the church (a gift). She sold it
to the Trustees of the church.
-R(G4555.030 Roll #104
p. 375-378
-Zebley’s p. 306
There is a graveyard with it and the oldest “legible” tombstone is of Mary P. Hall whe died on Oct. 3, 1838.
-Zebley's p. 306.
This is current history from their websile: (meaning the church is in current use}
1974- The church erected the George T. West Fellowship Center and was enlarged in 1983,
Sept. 7, 2003- A new and larger meeting hall was built

Their website says that there are graves of slaves and sailors from the Red Wing.

The website is : hitp://members.spius.net/dghattierdc/Ocean%20View%20Pres%20Church/about our_church.htm




1342 HISTORY OF
partially submerged territory. 3o well bave they sue-
ceeded that the bottom-lands have beeime the moxt
fertile cora-growing section of the hundred. Hobert
Burton was one of the first tounrierteke the work of
reclamuotion, and from this begioning ¢rew the organ-
ization of compauies to curry oe the enierprive with
larger ineans. The Beaver Dam Diteh Compuny was
incorporated February 23, 1865, with i5e following
members : Nuthaniel Tunneli, John Becaett, Keadall
Rickards, David Godwin, William D. 1

E. Bull, Ann M. West, Charles D,

H. Godwin, Sarah Derrickson, John

M. Tuylor, Heury B. Murry, Isanc

others. The work of thiscompany

been extensive and beoeficial.

The General Assembly has graote
the construction of 8 ¢apnl of seventy-1%o 1881 Wialn
and six feet deep from Jefferaon Creet, the head of
Little Assanoman Bay, to White's Cre<x, a branch of
Indian River Bay. The praposal cansl will lie en-
tirely withiu Baltimore Hundred. aud :f constructed,
will add thirteen miles of inland navigation to the
water-coursea between Chincoteague Izlet, Vi, and
Jefferson Cre

CHURCHES
built in 1767
pastar, bBegaL: e pavivias swovis  sen eww oe b
family of that pame which is celebrated in the annals
of early Presbyterianism on this contiment. His
father was a paster and teacher at the ** Old Log Col-
lege,”” which has since become the renowned and
revered Princeton, and his brothers were among the
organizers of the church st New Castle and of the
Buckingham in Mavyland. The elders of Blackwater
Church with Mr. Teanent were Joseph Miller, Eben-
ezer Evans, John Evans, Wm. Tunnell, John Ayde-
lott, Thomzs Harnig and Thomas Wingate, Mr.
Tennent was succeeded by James Wilson, son of
Matthew Wilson, of Philadelphia. He, smong others,
supplied the pulpit until 1771, in which year Rev.
Josiah Lewis was installed pastor. In 1774 Rev. John
Raokin became pastor and preached for twenty con-
gecutive years, until his death, in 1794, During Mr.
Rankin's pasterate the following elders comprised the
session : Jonathan Harvey, Egcch Scodder, William
LEvans, Joab Collins, Philip White, William S. Hal),
Elihu Bredell 2nd James Miller.

Rev. Chas. Wallace succeeded Mr. Rankin in 1794,
and occupied the pulpit notil 1993, when Rev, Stuart
Williamson became pastor and continued six yesra.
John Burton and others preached uatil 1812, when
Charles Wallace returned and remained five years,
being fullowed by Joseph Copeland and others. In
1821 Blackwater Church had become slmost extinct.
After a three years' pastorate, which was ended by
death, Thomas Kennedy was succeeded in 1825 by
Alexander Campbell. In 1831 the frst session of
elders had passed away. In 1239 Rev. L H, K. Handy
became pastor of what was called the United Churches
of Bockinghzm, Blackwater 2ol Lacsel.

/B8
rist

The union

CELAWARE.

was formed to insure a salary for a permanent pastor,
Later the union was dissolved by the Buekiogham
congregation, which requesten the exelusive servicos of
Mr. Hundy., H. C. Freix accepted the pastorate in
1841, and was suceeeded in 1849 by C. H, Mustard,
who, about 1831, withdrew to Lewea and Cool Spring
Chutches, The pulpit remained vacant until 15853,
Tn that yeur I. W. K. Handy again oceupied it, and
having prenched, two yeurs, responded to a call from

LICU, WO, 100ULL Uil e, TUEITEW IT 1200, LOTH 15¢ ]
tbere wns no preacher in Bluckwater or Ocean View
Churches, From that year until 1878 Rev. H. J. Guy-
lord {now in Kapsas} preached, being succeeded Ly
Rev. J. B. Adams, after whom came Johp T, Foulk,
Ocean View and Freokford Presbyterian Churches ure
branehes of Bluckwater Church.

The Sounds Baptist Church was the second Baptist
Church inthe State of Delaware, and one of the con-
stituent churchea of the Salisbury Assoviation, formed
in 1782, which the same year wos united with the
Philadelphia Associstion. In the fail of 1778, Rev,
Elijah Baker came to the State from Virginia and
begen preaching. He was soon followed by Rev.
Philip Hughea. Meetings were held at Broad Creek,
Gravelly Branch, tlie head of the Sound and other
places, The result of these meetings was maony con-
versions, and several churches were fecrmed. The
first was at the Ssunds, nnd was organized August 12,
1779, with twenty-one memhers, viz.: John Gibbins,
John Gibbins Jr., Jonathan Gibhins, Samuel Gib-
bins, Sarah Gibbins, Jaer Gibtins, Elizabeth
Gihbins, Elizabeth Gibbins, Jr., Eliphaz Dazey,
Thomas Wildgoose, Isnac Duncan, Sarab Dunean,
Sarah Duncan, Jr., Mary Bull, Joho Tull, Hannsh
Tu!l, Mary Clark, Mary Ake, Rhoda Hickman, Rachel
Emson and Rose, & negress.

Themeetings were held in the dwellings uf John Tull
and Thomsas Wildgoose, and no house of worship was
ever erected. By reamon of emigration the church
lost ita members gradually and leuog since was sban-
doued. During the first thirteen yzars of its organi-
zation six persons were here schooled for the ministry.
Their names were John, Samuel and Jounathan
Gihbins, Eliphaz Dazey, Gideon Farrel and Edward
C. Dingle.

The brst ministera of this church were its founders,
Reve. Baker and Hughes, who, in Virginis, Maryland
and Delaware, planted twenty-one churches.

On April 16, 1787, Rev. Jonathan Gibhins was or-
dained a pastor, and appoirted to take charge of the
Sounds Church. e also had the eare of Brosd Creek
Church unti] they obtained a minister of their own.
He was born in Broad Creek Hundred, Dec. 1C, 1751,
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THE CHURCHES OF DELAWARE

FRANK R. ZEBLEY

Author of “Along the Brandywine”

A history, in brief, of the nearly 900 churches
and former churches in Delaware as

located by the Author.

1947




Homecoming which is held at Ocean View on a Wednesday in August, One
of the features of the reunion is a Sunday afternoon service at Blackwater
Church. The collections which are taken at that service, insofar as they exceed
the fee paid to the minister, are placed in a special fund to be used for the pur-
pose of constructing a brick wall around the graveyard. Begun in 1939, the wall
in front of the church and a portion of one side wall have been completed.
The tombstones in the graveyard date back to 1850.

There is an annual service held by the people interested in Blackwater
Church. It is held in the fall on a date set by the session of Frankford Presby-
terian Church.

More land was donated to the church on Nov. 19, 1931, by Ebe T. Murray.

St. George's Methodist Church (M.E.) at Clarksville. The first church was
built on a road, now abandoned, about one mile north of the present church.
When it was decided to build a new church on the present site, the old church,
built of hand-hewn timbers, was torn down and used in building a barn on the
farm of Wm. Steele. The old church benches were used in the new church for
several years. When the new church was built, most of the bodies were removed
from the old to the new graveyard. Today, surrounded by trees, only two in-
scribed tombstones can be found. They mark the graves of John E. Lathbury
who died on Oct. 21, 1881 and Mary A. Lathbury, who died on Aug. 15, 1876.

Trustees were elected on Jan. 10, 1879. The present church site was pur-
chased on Feb. 18, 1880, from John Steele. The church was built and it was
dedicated in the spring of 1880. The parsonage site at Clayton and Waples Sts.,
in Dagsboro, was purchased on Feb. 3, 1914, from Virginia M. McCabe. The
present church was rebuilt in 1928 and greatly improved in 1937, The large

graveyard is located on both sides of the road. The oldest tombstone the writer
could find is dated 1853.

Wesley M. E. Church, colqgred, is located on the edge of Clarksville. The
church site was purchased on Dec. 18, 1873, from Miers B. Steel. More land
was secured on Dec. 1, 1926, from Quimby Walker and on Apr. 6, 1938, from
John G. Walter. A camp-ground is maintained with services late in July. This
was the last camp in Delaware to use the old wooden fire-stands for lighting
purposes. They were replaced with electricity in 1943.

Millville M. P. Church. This church was incorporated on Aug. 10, 1897.
The corner-stone was laid on Sept. 21, 1897. It was dedicated on Feb. 13, 1898,
There were three services which were conducted by the Revs. F. T. Little, J. L.
Straughn and J. McLean Brown. The church ceased to function in 1910. It is

now used as a social-hall by the M. E. Church, having been purchased by the
Gleaner’s Club on Oct. 29, 1938.

The Church of Christ, Disciples, of Millville, This congregation was in-
corporated on Mar. 27, 1922. They purchased the old M. P. Church on Apr.
26, 1922. The church became defunct and sold the property on Oct. 29, 1938.

Millville Methodist Church (M.E.) was built in 1907. The old Dist. No.
180 school lot was purchased on Aug. 3, 1907. The Gleaner’s Club purchased
the old M. P. Church on Oct. 29, 1938 and it is used as a social-hall.

Ocean View Presbyterian Church was founded, in 1856, by a group of
members from Blackwater Church. The use of an acre and one-half of land was
given by John Hall. The corner-stone was laid on July 5, 1856, and the church



was opened for services in the fall of that year. The corner-stone of the present
church was laid on July 2, 1907, and the dedication service was held on Dec. 1,
1907. The title to the site was deeded to the church by Mr. Hall's daughter,
Elizabeth A. Evans, on Aug. 14, 1909. There is a large, well-kept graveyard.
The oldest legible tombstone is that of Mary P. Hall who died on Oct. 3, 1838.
This is probably a reinterment.

The Christian Church, Disciples of Christ at Ocean View. This congrega-
tion was organized in 1880, when a church was built at Bayard. Trustees were
elected on Oct. 20, 1881. The first church was burned; a second church was
built and it was also burned. A church site in Ocean View was purchased on
Apr. 22, 1899, from James M. Evans. It was stipulated that there should be no
cemetery. The present church at Ocean View was built in 1901 and rebuilt in
1940. Their ritual includes baptism by immersion which leads many persons
to refer to them as Baptists.

Mariner’s Bethel Methodist Church (M.E.) was organized in 1859 and 2
frame church was built. It was incorporated on Feb. 14, 1878 and again on May
3, 1894. Four acres of land were purchased on June 16, 1894, from Elisha Evans.
The corner-stone of the present church was laid on July 14, 1898 and the
building was completed in 1899. It was rebuilt in 1904. Additional land was
purchased on May 8, 1906, from Mary H. Townsend. On July 21, 1930, Geo,
W. Mitchell donated a small strip of land to the church.

There is 2 large graveyard to the rear of the church, the tombstones dat-
ing back to 1862. During the night of Sun., July 19, 1942, the steeple was
struck by lightning, ripping off shingles and doing considerable damage. Some-
time later, the spire was removed.

St. Martin’s P. E. Church at Bethany Beach. Although meetings have been
held in Bethany Beach by the Episcopalians since 1914, a church was not built
until 1940. The erection of St. Martin’s Church was begun in May, 1940, The
first service and the dedication were held on Sun., Aug. 4, 1940,

The Christian Church, Disciples of Christ Tabernacle at Bethany Beach.
About 1900, a group of members presented to the church, sixteen acres of land
at Bethany Beach. The tabernacle, which was then built, is of similar design
to the study of Alexander Campbell, one of the founders of the church. For
a number of years Chatauquas were held here. At the present time the taber-
nacle is used during July and August to accommodate various group confer-
ences from the Capital Area of the church, which includes the church at Ocean
View and fifty-one other churches. More land was donated on April 30, 1923
by Hiram ]. Penrod. A large two-story building was erected near the taber-
nacle, in 1939, to be used as a dormitory and dintng-hall.

Zion Methodist Church (M.E.) at Roxana. The first church was built in
1839 and was named “Sound M. E, Church.” It was known to many persons
as “Centerville Church,” that being the name of Roxana until 1872. The pres-
ent site, measuring 40 sq. poles was secured on May 21, 1855 from Nathaniel

. Evans_ Af_that time the trustees of Sound Church were Isaac C. West,
Bl adoch P. Collier and N. W. Evans.
A setomd’church was built and it was dedicated on May 2, 1858, by the

Revs. Robt. L. Dashiell and Alfred A, Cookman. The present church was built
in 1874, The corner-stone was laid o Tues., Apr. 21, 1874, by the Revs. T. O.
Ayers and J. A. Arters, the pastor. It was arranged to dedicate the church on
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515. OCEAN VIEW PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, 1856--, Atlantic Ave., Ocean View, Baltimore
Hundred.

Organized in 1856 as a branch of the Blackwater Presbyterian Church {entry 495). (1} In that year
the first church was built, (2) being superseded in 1907 by the present one story frame building on the
same site. (3) The present name was adopted in 1909. (4)

Minutes, 1907--, 1 vol.; Register, 1907--, 1 vol.; in possession of pastor, Rev. . D. Viehe, Lewes.
Financial, 1927--, 1 vol.; in possession of J. M. Evans. Records of incarporation and deeds: Sussex
County Recorder’s office, Deeds Record; vol. DDU172, p. 441 vol. DDX175, p. 375; vol.. DEO193, p.
194; vol. DIF288, p. 270.

Scharf, Il, p. 1344.

ihid, p. 1342.
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History
of the
United Presbvterian Congregations

of
Lewes, Coolspring and Indian River Churches

Written for the
Two Hundred and Seventy-Fifth Anniversary
by
Elizabeth Russell Atkins

Lewes, Delaware October 7th and 8th, 1967



REVISITED
Reverend L. P, Bowen, D. Ib. *

Lewes, hail the Hoorkill Couniry

As twas know in days of old;

Full of reminisecent sunshine

Full of hearts as pure as gold

Mustard, West, and Wolfe and
Lyons,

Virden, Hickman, Burton, Maull,

Arnell, Wartington and Norman

And our dear old Dr. Hall;

Names vibrating on the air,

Like breezes on the Delaware.

That teacher from the days
departed

Is treading these fair shores again

And these old names come back
and greet him,

The old octogenarian;

The g‘ravey-ards full-the beasons
sped— .~

The sleepers live-his dead not
dead.

He stands and preaches in the
pulpit

Wf_lere Mustard painted heavenly

joys
And while he preaches softly near
him

Are sleeping his two prea.cher
boys-

George Wolfe, Hall, gone on before

And beckomng ﬁ'om the eternal
shore. t

He misses sore that old Brick
Building

Survivor of the olden days

Where sainted fathers loved and
worshipped

Two hundred years of prayer and

Oh vandal stroke that struck that
blow

Wi:lich laid that grand old temple
oW

There Samuel Davis, the church's
founder

Stood forth the gospel seed to sow,

Contemporary of Makernie,

Far back two hundred years ago

Why not have treasured to the last

That tcpricelesa landmark of the
.pas

Beneath that roof the youngster
teacher

Taught all he knew and best he
could,

1.

2

And in the coming years his pupils

All reached their goel and all
made good;

Did not a blessing, rich, benign,

Rest on us in that old Brick
shrine?

Yound pedagogue likewise was
learning

And gathering many a precicus
gem,

For he’d been taught by those
bright scholars .

Far more than even he taught
them,

And ILewes with her smiles and
prayers

‘Was shaping all his fufure years.

Now fifty-four long floating
Seasons '

Had run their course and passed
on down

And thinned the ranks and filled
the graveyards

Sinece he had last beheld the town

But after all those weary miles

He meets six pupils still In smiles

Robert, William, Charlie, Sallie

Joe and Maggie-bless their hearts-

With that rare grace that ne'er
departs

,All honored women, honored men,

And we renewed our youth again.

All hafl, blue skies of Cape
Henlopen,

Brg:kwater and the shimmering

v .

And spirits of the dear departed

Hovering still about ocur way,

The seaside breezes soft and low

And voices of long ago.

All hail the monument up yonder

Where {irst the prime old sefitlers
stood;

We raise a monwnrent still nobler

True manhood and frue
womanhood,

The children besuie these waters

The sons of Lewes and her
daughters -

Go on, ye Blue Hen’s Chlckens

The future all in bloom

With hope and cheer and promise

Of grander things to come.

Please turn to page 46 for a brief background of Reverend Bowen.
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The congregation worshipped until 1707 in a small wooden
building. This was replaced by one built of bricks which
were burned in the churchyard. This building must have been
unsubstantially built because at a Session meeting in 1759 it
was resolved “to raise and repair it as it was in danger of
total ruin and decay.” An acecount of the expense incurresd
for labor and matertal, and the names of the subscribers for
same are listed in the old session book. This Brick Church,
as it was forever after to he known, was presumed to have
been built for the Reverend John Thomson. On the eastern
side of the building, before it was overlaid, could be seen the
letters J T'S and the pumerals 1728, which is ‘“as much to
say, this house was built for the Reverend John Thomson in
the year of our Lord 1728.” This quaint Dutch-type structure,
with a high hip-roof and galleries extending around three
sides of the interior, had no heat other than a fireplace and
served both as a meeting place and school for many years.
Repaired again in 1818, it was used until 1832, when it was
replaced by the present edifice which was hegun in 1830 and
dedicated on Aungust 26, 1832 during the ministry of John
Mitchelmore. The Brick Church stood until 1871, when it
was purchased for $80 by Henry Wolfe, an elder of the church,
and demolished. In the vestibule of our church hangs a
photograph taken at this time by one John Williams, photo-
grapher and barber. During its use as a school, the boys took
turns, each a2 week apiece, opening the school, cutting the
firewood and making the fires. The girls remained after
school on Wednesday and Friday to sweep and clean,

Preshyterians have always insisted on a high level of
learning for their clergy and their members. Wherever they
settled a teacher usually accompanied them and a school was
established. Most of the early ministers conducted classes in
addition to their pastoral duties. Among the teachers at this
scheol were Matthew Wilson, Francis Hindman, Ashbel Srong,
Paunl Davis, John D. Marshall, James Russell, George Poole
and Archibald Moore.

The land upon which the church is located was originaily
patented to William Dyre, part of which he sold to Thomas
Fenwick. It was the latter who appeared in open court, May 6,
1707, and “acknowledged, declared and made over for the
use of the Preshyterian professors for a meeting house, school
and burial place, a parcel of land butted and bounded at the
end of Lewes Town between the Countv road and the road
that goes to Mr. Samuel Davig’, his plantation on the hill, con-
baining 100 feet square, aceording to a deed of settlement
bearing date, the ninth day of the instance, May 1707.”
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Alterations have been made over the years on this third
.and present building, which was begun the same year the
United States Government started the construction of the
Breakwater. Formerly the balcony which graces the rear of
church continued around both sides with pillars for support.
The original windows consisted of three sections of leaded
glass panes, two of which were in the sanctuary and the
third extended up through the gallery, The Sabbath School
was held on the gallery. The organ and choristers rendered
their music from there until 1877 when the Session decided
to bring them down into the church. Also the section whieh
now contains the choir was walled off and a smaller platform
held the pulpit with thirteen steps leading up to it. In 1886
extensive renovations were made and it is thought the side
galleries were removed at this time. A steeple, with an open
tower, was built by C. T. Burton for $634; a bell, weighing
1,000 pounds, was purchased in Baltimore; and an organ from
Trenton, $300, was added. A shingle was found with writing
as follows: “Henry Wolfe, May 30, 1832,” which is about the
time the present structure wag built. Onee there was a large
chandelier in the center of the ehurch which burned oil and
the sexton had to draw it down by means of a pole to fill the
lamps. One Sunday evening in 1901, this chandelier fell to
the floor. No lamps were broken but many of the prisms were
torn off and smashed. Charles Miller, a negro, who faithfully
served for fifty years as sexton, was the only person in the
church at the time. The damaged fixture was packed in boxes
and placed under the eaves of the church. Finally it was
given to an antique dealer who sold it to a negro pastor and
it is said to be hanging now in a New Jersey Church. The
fine, hand-carved woodwork, handsome furniture and pulpit
are presumed to have been made by the Russell Woodworking
Firm at Philadelphia. .

Tn 1877 the trustees purchased the old Wesley property,
wihich stood to the left of the church, and there they built a
manse. W. D. Paynter was the contractor and it cost $1,400.
The Mustard property, snmetimes called Green Hill Parlors,
was purchased from Dr: _avid L. Mustard and his brother,
Robert Mustard, and the land was laid out in burial lots with
wide avenues. Robert Arnell bought the old buildings which
had formerly stood in the cemetery and moved them to his
lumberyard nearby. Silver maple trees and evergreens were
planted at suitable places and an abutment raised, surmounterd
by an iron fence which added to the decoration of the grounds.
Services were suspended in 1900 when the body of the church
wag painted steel gray with white trim and a new fioor was
laid by Salmons and Manlove. The interior was repapered
and frescoed and steam heat installed. A new pipe organ,
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costing $1,200, was purchased from Adam Stein of Baltimore
in 1903. In the summer of that year two rooms were added
to the manse and a stable built; the iron fence was removed
from the front and a coping placed in its stead. No great
changes or additions to the church were made again until
1914, when the Sunday School Building was huilt at a cost
of $9,179.98. John Wanamaker, the great 'b idelphia mer-
chant and philanthropist was invited to dedicate the new
building but was unable to accept the invitation. The Rever-
end Mr. Aull of Calvary Presbyterian Church at Philadelphia
officiated at this ceremony on May twenty-first. At the same
time the old church building was redecorated at a cost of
$2,000. Mprs. Adele Herold, wife of the minister, and the
Misses Ann Nichols and Catherine Marshall served on
the committee.

The six stained glass memorial windows were given by
friends and members in memory of their loved ones and were
dedicated November 25, 1926. An outstanding musical pro-
gram was given at this time which was acknowledged by the
Sesgion in their minutes. The biblical events depicted by the
windows are as follows:

“Come Unto Me”
“The Resurrection”
“The Good Shepherd”
“Blessing the Children”
“The Nativity”
“Walk to Emmaus”

Additions and changes have been made to the entrance
several times. The last and present one was built and dedi-
cated on December 6, 1931, and the Reverend Thomas A.
Williams of the Wicomico Presbyterian Church of Salisbury
was the speaker. The original stone doorstep, which led into
the church, lies in the graveyard to the right of the vestibule
where it was placed at the time of this addition.

In the late forties the steeple began to show the ravages
of time and the elements and was razed. A new one with a
closed tower replaced the old one of open structure through
which the bell could be seen.

In 1950 steps were taken to refinish, waterproof and
decorate the basement of the Sunday School Building for use
as a church social and recreation hall. The work was done by
the men of the church and the Kelly class provided the furnish-
ings.

Two more stained glass windows were placed in the
vestibule in 1965. The one to the left, upon entering the



vestibule, was given in memory of Mrs, Lena (Nichols) Tam-
many by her sons, William and Samuel Tammany, and was
dedicated on October 31, 1965. The circular __ained glass
window to the right of the vestibule was dedicated on Novem-
ebr 21, 1965, and was given in memory of Dr. William Leish-
man by Mrs. Kelly's Sunday School elass.

In 1958, the corner lot was purchased from Benjamin
Ableman for $12,000. The old Dodd House that stood there
was torn down. The old manse was moved away and with the
addition of this land the cemetery space was greatly aug-
mented. A new manse was built on the corner lot and was
first occupied by the Reverend James Arlen Mays and his
family in February of 1959. Samue! Russell was the general
contractor assisted by George ' .appell, Richard Dennis and
W. Maclyn Cullum.






were to be given those people. The survey was made in
September 1737 and for some reason the plot, when surveyed,
called for four acres instead of the ten originally mentioned.

About 1782, people became concerned with the loose
manner of holding Church property and petitions from all
over Delaware were sent to the General Assembly protesting
against this situation. The Legislature in 1787, respond=d
with a law permitting Churches to become separate corpor:
bodies. On September 1, 1787, the Coolspring congregation,
which up until this time had formed a parish with Lewes,
took action and recorded their proceedings to become a body
eorporate, the official name to be the “United Presbyterian
Congregations of Lewes, Coolspring and Indian River.” For
years a pleasant and harmonious relationship was maintained,
and they were served by the same pastor. Meantime, the
Indian River Church ceased to exist, and the Lewes Church
reincorporated as a separate body. As a result, the Cool-
spring Church was the only surviving limb of the original
corporate body. In order to preserve a continuous and per-
fect title to the real estate of the Coolspring Church, the
congregation took legal seps and ehanged the name to “The
Coolspring Presbyterian Chureh.”

The minutes of the church indicate that one time the
church owned a glebe. This is surprising because the holding
of a glebe is peculiar to the Episcopal church for the most
part. The glebe belonging to the church consisted of farm
lands adjacent to the graveyard and, not proving a satisfactory
investment, was disposed of for 250 pounds.

They worshipped first in a small wooden building. This
was replaced by -a second whieh was painted red and most
likely shingled and very simple in construction. It stood
lengthwise to the road and had two doors facing the road.
The pulpit faced away from the road and was built against
the side of the church facing the road. The windows were
rather small as compared with modern windows; the pulpit
stood several feet above floor level and was reached by steps.
A drawing of this second church, which now hangs on the
wall of the church, was made by Dr. Robert B. Hopkins when
a young man. His father, Dr. James A. Hopkins, together
with his grandfather, Peter J. Hopkins, were for many years
trustees, elders -and influential members of this church. The
drawing was made about 1900, and the facts and description
of same were largely derived from his father. This church
was repaired in 1818, and the manner hy which the funds
were raised are listed in the Coolspring records now on file
in the Presbyterian Historical Society in Philadelphia. It has
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been related that when difficulties were encountered with a
casket being too unwieldy to get through-the door, Dr.:James
Hopking declared, “Never Again’’, and had the two doors
replaced with one, the side aisles removed and a center aisle
made.

The present substantial frame houge of worship is the
third building and was dedicated January 14, 1855.

On Sunday, October 10, 1926, Coolspring celebrated its
200th anniversary with an address delivered by Judge Henry
C. Conrad.

Rededication services were held on Sunday, May 27, 1951
to commemorate extensive renovation that was done on the
building. A placque on the wall of the church bears the
following inscription, “In Memory of James W. Copes, who
by his will made the répairs on this church possible in 1950.”

In 1865, by the generosity of Benjamin Burton, the roof
was refurbished and a bronze placque placed on the outside
of the building which reads: “In memory of all the wonder-
ful people who live here.”

Five candidates went out from this church and became
ministers of the gospel under the auspices of the Pregbyterian
Church. These were David Coulter, Cornelius H. Mustard,
Samuel Peery, Wilson Tait and Russell Paynter.

In the graveyard adjoining the church may be found the
tombstones of many of the founding fathers bearing names
that are familiar even today such as Martin, Hopkins, Black,
Parker, Cotilter, Virden, Warrington, Waples, Wolfe, Hudson
and Stephenson, to mention just a few. Two Revolutionary
soldiers lie here - Thomas Coulter and Major William Peery.
Many have brought their loved ones here because as Dr.
James Hopkins gaid, “Bury me at Coolspring, for there the
sun shines brighter and the birds sing sweeter.”

Space limits coverage in detzil of many whao were dis-
tinguished and worthy of special note. However, one, Major
William Peery, was recognized as a man of ability and patriot-
ism. He was appointed Justice of the Peace in 1783 by Gov-
ernor Van Dyke, four times elected a2 member of the State
House of Representatives, served as Treasurer of Sussex
County and was twice elected to Congress. During the Revolu-
tion he raised, equipped and commaeanded a company of volun-
teers for the defense of the town of Lewes and especially the
pilots. He was an attorney and was admitted to the bar at
the October term 1775 in Sussex County. His first wife was
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Mary Hood, daughter of James Hood, who died the same day
as her neice, Nancy Hood, in 1787. The Reverend Matthew
Wilson notes in his registry of funerals, “Dear loving relations
in life, buried together in orme grave.” Major Peery married
secondly Margaretta Wilson, daughter of the Reverend Mat-
thew Wilson, who survived his death in 1800 and lived until
1822. He lies beside his first wife, Mary, in the Coolspring
graveyard and his second wife, Margaretta, is buried in the
Lewes cemetery with her father’s family.

In 1810, the church had a larger membership than either
of the other two churches and for many years was strong
in numbers and influence. By 1887, however, there were but
forty members and they had no regular pastor. They are
now served by the pastor at Georgetown, Delaware.

Indian River Presbyterian Church

The Reverend John ™ rris is credited with the organiza-
tion of the first congregauon here in 1730. He was a spirited
and independent leader and is said to have preached with a
gun in the h'?ulpit. For a while he served the church at Indian
River at the same time that Matthew Wilson officiated at
Lewes and Coolspring. The congregation refused to call Wil-
son because of their feeling about the New and Old Light
doctrine. They were of the new side, while the other two
were of the old side persuasion. Because the members were
unable to support him, Reverend HMarris obtained a regular
dismission from his pastoral duties there in 1759. Wilson, no
doubt, made several abortive attempts to unite the three
churches, but it was not until 1767 that Indian River was so
reconcilled as to supplicate the I.ewes Presbytery for a third
part of his time as Stated Supply. They were finally united
in the call under the ministry of the Reverend Franecis Hind-
man in 1791.

The first church was situated one and one half miles
from Millsboro on the Frame farm overlooking Cow Bridge
Branch of Indian River in a grove of trees set aside for this
purpose. It was of humble construction and Jocated on one
acre of land “being part of the land upon which the ineeting
house now stands' which Levi Collins sold to John Aydelott
and Thomas Harvey, Seni-— for one pound, seven shillings on
February 4, 1776.” Later it was replaced by a better frame
structure which was well finished, the interior being of heart
of pine, with good pan~ work and the exterior was covered
with cypress shingles. t'ne church was repaired in 1838 for
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Ministers

In 1691, a London niissionary, Samuel Lewes, visited in
Lewes and could have formed a congregation. It has been
definitely established that one existed when the famous
Reverend George Keith visited the Reverend Samuel Davis
here in 1692. Francis Hindman states in his brief history of
the church in the old session book that “The first Presbyterian
clergyman who made any considerable residence in the county
was a certain Mr. Black.” According to the records of the
Greenwich Presbyterian Church in Greenwich, New Jersey,
their first minister, Mr. Black, left there for Lewes where he
served for ten years, 1707 to 1717. He is thought to have
come from Dumfries, Scotland. There was an Anglican priest
by the name of William Black residing in the community at
that time, It is possible he may have assisted in providing
services for all and sundry. Though little is known of his
origins it is certain he was here in 1708, He appears to have
been a Scot, as most of the early ministers were, and was
recommended to the Venerable Society by the Bishop of
Edinburgh and by the Lords of the College of Glasgow. He
made 2 hasty flight into Maryland when the French and
pirates invaded and plundered the town. In a letter to his
superiors in London he attempted to justify his action and
spokie also of the inability of the Lewestowners to maintain
his stipened and may have served the Presbyterians as he
admits to having been “forced to connive at many of their
irregular actions. . .”

Four men went out from the Lewes church to become
candidates for the ministry of the gospel under the auspices
of the Presbyterian church. They were Henry Rodney Hall,
George Lewis Wolfe, Joshua Hall Mcllvaine and Hugh Kenyon
Leishman.

Seven ministers .who have either served pastorates or
gone forth into the ministry from the church are buried with
their wives in the adjoining churchyard. They are as follows:
Matthew Wilson, D.D., Cornelius Mustard, George Lewis
Wolfe, Julius A. Herold, D.D., Henry Rodney Hall, D.D., Wil-
liam Leishman, D.D., and Joshua McIvaine, D. D.

Reverend Samuel Davis
1697 - 1706

He came from Ireland, shortly after the great Francis
Makemie and was known as ‘‘one of Makemie's young men”;
and, like Makemie, was more of an Evangelist than a pastor.
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He was also a chirurgeon or doctor and served the Snow Hill
and Buckingham churches from 1686 to 1698. He removed
to Lewes in 1692, made several land purchases there and
seems to have conducted a business of some kind. He preached
at Lewes when “time and the posture of his affairs per-
mitted.” He was one of seven men who composed the first
Presbytery formed by Francis Makemie in 1706, and later
served as its third moderator. His name is inscribed on a tablet
at the First Presbyterian Church at Philadelphia, along with
fellow members. The first mention of him found in early
records is in the will of a Presbyterian merchant, John Gal-
braith, dated 1691, in which, as pastor of the Snow Hill and
Buckingham churches, he was bequeathed a supply of pork,
which was recognized as legal tender in those days. He was
granted a patent for land in Somerset in September, 1684,
and also it is recorded in the Somerset records that “Mr.
Samuel Davis, Minister,” officiated February 26, 1684 at the
marriage of John Broughton and Elizabeth Bradshaw.

His first wife was Mary Simpson, either the widow or daugh-
ter of Robert Simpson, by whom he had three children; Sam-~
uel, Jr., also a doctor, who married Naomi Heather Taylor;
Catherine, married to John Donelson; and Mary, married to
Phillip Russell, a Lewes attorney. He married secondly,
Elizabeth Whittington, fifth wife and widow of Colonel Whitt-
ington of Maryland, and it is presumed they had no issue.
In 1718, when the Reverend John Hampton was obliged to
resign his charge because of poor health, Davis returned to
Snow Hill and resumed his pastoral duties there. He resided
on a plantation called “Grove”, between Berlin and Snow Hill
where he quietly spent the remaining years of his life until
his death in 1725.

Reverend John Thompson
1717 - 1729

In April of 1717 Reverend Thompson, who had come aS
a probationer from Ireland in 1715, was ordained and installed
at Lewes where he remained until 1729, It was for him the
Brick church was built. He was a scholar, publishing at Wil-
liamsburg in 1759 an “Explication of the Shorter Catechism”,
and a “Government of the Church of Christ”. He moved to
Virginia later in life and then to Centre, North Carolina where
he died in 1753. The year before he left Lewes, 1728, he
delivered a stirring address to Synod, pleading the adoption
of the Westminister Standards. In 1729, due greatly to his
efforts, Synod passed the “adopting act”, requiring it from
all ministers. With certain interpretative amendments this is
still the law of the church.
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Reverend Josias Martin
1734 - 1743

He, along with his brother James and another brother
whose name is unknown, a lad, James J. Martin, supposed to
he his son, and a cousin, also named Josias, fled trom Scotland
to Ireland because of religious persecution. Finding themselves
victims of civil oppression there, they cided to emigrate to
America and settled near Cool Spring, Delaware. The family
was later joined by a sister who hecame Mrs. Jonathan Ste-
phenson, who moved to Ohio where all trace of her was lost.
He organized the Coolspring congregation and served as its
rastor as well as pastor of the Brick church in Lewes. He
seems to have been a widower and died circa 1743. In accord-
ance with the custom of the dav. he was buried beneath the
pulpit of the Brick church. He helned to arrange for the visit
of the Evaneelist George Whitefield to Lewes where he snoke
on QOctober 31, 1739 “to-a serious and attentive Congregation”.
Whitefield visited Lev 1 again twice the next year and spoke
to a large and enthusiastic erowd.: .: :

Reverend Hec't,o_r Alison
1743 - 1756

He was ordained by New Castle Presbvtery in 1746,
prohably at White Clay. He was settled at Drawyers from
1753 to 1758. A curious instance occurs in the records of
Synod, in 1750, in the ommission of the name of a youns man
having hastilv promiged marriage. The ladv was willine to
release him; but she had a seruple whether it was lawful for
her to do so. The Synod decided it was lawful, and called up
the youne man, and dire ' 7 the Reverend John Thomson to
rebuke him in the presence of the Synod, “it heine necessary
to show our detestation of such.rash proceedings in young
people.” He submitted; and Cathcart and Thomson were
directed to go with him to the voung woman to endeavor to
issue the affair. They reported that they went to White Clay
about Alison’s affair, and that the parties subsequently made
a mutual releagse, In 1750. he was sent for eight Sabbaths to
Western Virginia. In 177" he asked for a dissolution of his
pastoral relations. The trresbytery referred it to Synod and
a cor “tssion was appointed to meet at New London on the
first ‘1uesday of August. They determined the affair. and
he probably removed to Drawyers. In 1760, he was allowed
to go a3 chaplain to the Pennsylvania forces; and, in answer
to a very pressing application made to Synod in May of that
yvear by the English Presbyterian gentlemen in Albany, he
was directed to supply them until July. He joined New Castle
Presbytery after the union in 1761, and was released in a
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little time from his charge at Appoquinimy. An application
was made from Baltimore town on his behalf, a commission
was sent there in November who judged that the proposals
were so unsatisfactory that it was inexpedient to suffer such
a call to be placed in his hands. He was dismissed from the
Presbytery in December 1761, probably with a view to join-
ing South Caralina Presbytery, and settled at Williamsburg,
South Carolina. :

On his removal or death, the congregations were an-
noyed and divided by Samuel Kennedy, from Dromore Presby-
tery, who had given no small trouble to Synod; and, although
disowned by them, he went south with letters of recommenda-
tion from the Second Philadelphia Presbytery.

All of the ministers of the United Congregations have
been characterized by exceptional qualities of personal in-
tegrity, education and dedication to their charges. The love
and respect with which they were held by their parishioners
is ‘evidenced by the scores of children who hear their names.
Life, at best, was rugged and difficult in the early eighteenth
century in Sussex County. Surrounded by dense forests, the
farms were large, the houses wide apart.and the people iso-
lated from each other and the outside world. The minister’s
stipends were woefully inadequate; often could not be met
and their cares and frustrations were manifold. Each of
these good men has his own claim to fame but aga.m space
limits coverage in great detail. . :

Revefend Mafthew Wilson, D.D.-
1756 - 1790

He stands out as being a man of impressive stature, not
only in his own géneration but would be so congidered in the
twentieth. He was a truly great man: a scholar, teacher,
author, a graduate of both medicine and divinity who had
also a very great knowledge of law. Born to Irish immigrant
parents, James and Jean W m, on January 15, 1731 in
Chester County, East Nottingnam Township, New London,
Pennsylvania, he came to Lewes as a young man. His first
wife was Hester Gray, widow of Samuel, and they had two
children, Matthew and BElizabheth, both of whom died in in-
fancy. He married secondly, Elizabeth Craghead from Mary-
land, davghter of a Presbyterian minister, Thomas Craghead
and his wife Margaret. By this marriage there were five
children: James Patriot, Theodore, Mary, Nancy and Mar-
garet. The daughters hecame wives of Revolutionary officers:
Mary married Ca.pta.m Peter Mar:® and had. a large family,
many of whose descendants live i Sussex County today;
Margaret became the second wife. of Major William Peery
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and they had no. children. Nancy waa first married to a
Mackey and then to Thomas Marsh. Theodore, a practicing
physician, married the daughter of Colonel Simon Kollock,
Mary Neill Kellock, and they had three sons - James, Matthew
and Simon Kollock, who were baptized at Coolspring in 1800.
Their father, Theodore, was “shot and murdered by James
Wylie, and innkeeper, December 15, 1799.” His widow, Mary,
became the wife of Dr., Mark Greer in 1802 and they also had
three sons. The Reverend Doctor Matthew Wilson received
his license to preach from the New Castle Presbytery, was
ordained at White Clay Creek October 17, 1755 and installed
as pastor of the United Congregation of Lewes and Coolspring
in August 1767. Another charge, Indian River, was added
to his care in Auguost 1767, which he served as Stated Supply.
A fervent patriot, he wore the words “Liberty” written on
his cocked hat. ‘Some Delawareans, especially in Tory-infested
Sussex County, thought “he carried his public activity in the
Great Whig cause rather further than became a minister of
the Gospel.” It is interesting to note that he was not alone
in espousing the American cause, as records show there was
not one “Tory” Presbyterian minister in the whole state during
the Revolution. Presbyterians were so predominately zealous
in the colonies in their advocacy of American independence
that King George is said to have referred to the Revolution
as “being a Presbyterian rebellion”.

About the time of the passage of the Boston Port Bill,
his first son was born, This bhill greatly aroused the ire and
disfavor of the colonists and was the main factor in uniting
them against the English government. It was this feeling of
antagonism that led the Reverend Wilson to call his boy
James Patriot.

The Reverend Dr. Wilson was one of the charter members
of the Delaware Medical Society and served as medical surgeon
during the Revolutionary War. He was Ea.rticula.rly interested
in the so-called ‘‘winter fevers” which sometimes reached
epidemic proportions in lower Delaware., Among his writings
in that field was “The Origin, Nature and Cure of Malarial
Fevers”. In 1786, the University of Pennsylvania conferred
upon him Doctor of Divinity. Fifty years before Delaware
College was founded, he suggested that an institution of
higher learning be established at Newark and Iaid forth prin-
ciples of learning to be followed there. At one time he ex-
pressed the hope that Congress would “take into their wise
consideration the renaming the country in honor of Columbus.”
He was a prolific reader, correspondent and author. He had
an excellent library, even for those times and in his will
designated its distribution. He died March 30, 1790, in his
sixtieth year, and rests between his two wives in the Lewes

burying ground.
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Reverend . Francis Hindman
1791 - 1795 :

He was licensed June 24, 1789, accepted ‘the call from
the United churches June 21 1791 and was ordained and
installed at the same time at Coolspring October 27, 1791.
He conducted one of the first and best classical schools in
Lewes, if not the whole country. It was the forerunner of
the Lewes Academy. He wrote the “Brief History of the
Church’s” in the old session book from which most of its
early history is authenticated. During his stay in Lewes, a
daughter, Mary Sharpe, was .baptized by the prominent
Reverend Jacobh Kerr from Maryland in 1795. Evidently spirit-
ual fervor was at a low ebb during his stay as he commented
as clerk of the Lewes Preshytery, “as to the state of religion
in the Presbyterian Church of Lewes, the Presbytery would
observe that it does not appear to be a time of much divine
influence and they apprehend that the most promising ex-
pedients for effecting a revival of religion are to preach
warmly, live exempldrily and pray fervently.” Hindman re-
mained three years and six months and was dismissed to a
Pennsylvania church.

Reverend John Burton
1795 - 1803

He was a licentiate from Scotland under the care of the
New Castle Presbytery. He came to Lewes from the Presby-
terian Church at St. Georges, Delaware, where he had served
eight years without beinz installed. He commenced his minis-
try on December 10, 1795, but there is no record of his in-
stallation here. He remained at Lewes for eight years, and
he and his wife, Lydia, had several children during that period.
Leaving Lewes, he served as supply for several Delaware
churches. He died in 1825, and he is buried at St. Georges
Delaware. He was an excellent theologian and linguist,
was frank and outspoken and noted for his eccentri-
cities. When the Reverend Mr. Burton advertised a litfle
farm for sale, and a certain party wanted to buy it, he told
them, “It was a wet, sorry soil, and they would starve on
it.” He was so absent-minded he often drove home other
people’s conveyances, so that his parishioners had to sec him
safely away from the church after the services.

Reverend James Patriot Wilson
1804 - 1805 -

He was the elder son of Reverend Matthew Wilson and
was installed as minister in Decemhber 1804. He had been a
lawyer for ten years and was the Surveyor General for the
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became a famous doctor, a vice-president of the Mississippi
State Medical Society, Pregident of the New Orleans school
board, and administrator of the University of Louisiana.

Reverend Benjamin Ogden
1823 - 1826

Born in Fairfield, New Jersey, he was graduated from
Princeton College and became a tutor there. In June 1822,
he was ordained at Bensalem, Pennsylvania. After a year
there, he came to Lewes and stayed three years, dying later
in life at Valparaiso, Indiana, in 1853.

Reverend John Mitchelmore
1827 - 1834

This young man came to Lewes in 1825 as a missionary,
having been born near Dartmouth, England in 1783, He was
a graduate of Princeton Seminary. Drowned in the Delaware
river when the steamboat William Penn blew up on March 4,
1834, he is buried in the cemetery of the First Presbyterian
Church in Philadelphia, A cenotaph and portrait on the wall
of the Lewes church vestibule commemorates him. His widow,
Mary, is buried in the Lewes graveyard. During his pastorate
there was a dearth of ministers in the county, and it would
appear his energies and services were greatly imposed upon.
In a report to the Presbytery, the comment was made that
he was “a good man who is extensively useful but his services
cannot suffice for a whole county.” The present church was
built during his ministry.

Reverend Abraham DeWitt
1834 - 1838

He was the son of Abraham and Catharine (Shipman)
DeWitt and was born in Greenwich, N. J., December 2, 1798,
He studied at BEaston, Pennsylavnia and Bloomfield, New
Jersey and taught for a time. He entered Princeton Seminary
in 1829 and took the full course. He was licensed by the
Presbytery of Newark and ordained by the same Presbytery,
October 6, 1831. After serving churches in Pennsylvania and
New York, he came to Lewes in 1834, where he remained four
years before returning to Princeton to teach. He resumed
hig pastoral duties at Rock Church, Cecil County, Maryland.
He died at the home of his son, Fair Hill, Maryland on October
2, 1887, in the 88th year of his age. He married at Princeton
Miss Anna Terhune on September 27; 1832 and they had two
children, 2 son and a daughter.
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Reverend Cornelius Mustard
1839 - 1851, 1852 - 1856

This minister served twice at Lewes, 1839 - 1851, 1852 -
1856. A man named Andrew Thomas supplied the interim.
Cornelius Hopkins Mustard was born near Joppa Church at
Cool Spring, Delaware, in 1804, the son of David and Lydia
Hopkins Mustard. His father was an elder in the church and
one of its most faithful and useful officers. Reverend Mustard
married Miss Margaret H. West on May 13, 1824, and they
had four children, two of whom reached meaturity, Doctor
David Lewis Mustard and Robert Mustard. His wife died at
the age of 28, a few days after her infant son, Irving Spence
Mustard. At a meeting of the Snow Hill. Presbytery, April
28, 1820, young Cornelius Mustard appeared before the
Presbytery “expressing a desire to be under their care with
a view to preparing for the gospel ministry.” He was or-
dained by the Presbytery of Lewes and served at some time
or other almost every Sussex Presbyterian church: Lewes
Coolspring, Indian River, Laurel, Black—ater and Milford in
Kent County. He died in 1870 and is i...erred in the Lewes
céemetery with his wife and many of his ancestors and de-
cendants. He was a much beloved man and the progenitor of
a family who have consistently through the years served the
church as trustees, elders, Sunday School teachers and dedi-
cated and generous members of the Presbyterian congregation.
A cenotaph testifying to the affection and esteem felt for
this grand old pastor hangs on the wall of the Coolspring
church. He was a trustee of Delaware College, as were his
son and grandson. .

Reverend William C. Handy
1857 - 1859

Born on August 10, 1835 in Northhampton County, Vir-
ginia, he was graduaied from Theological Seminary at Dan-
ville, Kentucky and Princeton Seminary. 7icensed by the
Presbytery of Baltimore in 1857, his first pastoral charge
was Lewes. He married Marie, daughter of his theological
professor, the Rev. Robert J. Breckinbridge of Kentucky. He
was the father of eight children, six sons and two daughters.
Because Lewes was allied with New Castle Presbytery, he
came first @&s. an Evangelist. He had a most charming per-
sonality and a fruitful career and died December 10, 1201.
In 1904, three years after his death, his son, L. Irving Handy,
‘attorney, congressman, teacher. and orator, spoke at the in-
vitation of our Usher's Association at a lecture benefiting the
organ fund, L. Irving Handy's daughter is Delaware’s be-
loved pediatrician, Dr. Margaret I. Handy. She practices
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Reminary in Kentucky and Princeton Seminary. Supplying

s Lewes pulpit, he stirred up a2 controversy and Presbytery
had to intervene. He dled in Carthage, North Carolina in
1£96 and is buried in the Lewes cemetery.

Reverend Daniel Tenney
(supply).

He accepted the call of the United Congregation but had
to leave after two months, without being installed, becausc
of poor health.

Reverend William W. Reese
1877 - 1881

He me to Lewes after serving churches in Maryland
and Virginia. His wife, Nettie, died in 1879 and is buried in
the Lewes churchyard. A~ 'r leaving here, he served sevcral
glg;i'chcs in Maryland and died in Wilmington, Delaware in

Reverend Austin C. Heaton, D. D.
1881 - 1887

He was born at Thetford, Vermont. After graduating
from Dartmouth College, where he attained Phi Beta Kappa,
he took the full course at Princeton Seminary and was grad-
uated. He was or« ed b tyhe New Brunswick Presbytery
and came to Lewes rrom Princess Anne, Maryland where he
had teen pastor of the A~ ' '1 Presbyterian Church. A
daughter, Sallie Stuart, was porn to hi and his wife Ariana
in 1879. He was a very popular and successful minister in
Maryland, and many sought ] © >unsel. He took Lewes after
it had fallen into prob as, ax evin reports in 1834 : “There
his labors have been abunc -~ * and suceessful, and that church,
formerly distracted: 1w  =2nt ™ has now hecome very much
enlarged and is in a most prosperous condition.” When Dr.
Heaton died, a promin t notice ~~peared in the Presbyterian,
the forerunner of Prespyterian L.:e. For a time he had been
pastor at old Rehohoth Pre *-—terian Church, and their history
speaks of his outstan ~ +  aci’ g, He and his family are
buried in the § ey or Manokin Presbyterian Church,
Princess Anne, marylunu.

Reverend David Hull Laverty, D. D.
1888 - 1893
He was the son of James Hill and Maria (Willeman)
Laverty and was born at Clearfield, Pennsylvania, June 20,
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1833. He studied at Grove Academy in Ohio and under his
brother, the Reversnd W. W. Laverty and also at the Buffalo
Academy and was graduated from Washington College in 1860.
The first two years of his theological course were spent in
the Western Theological Seminary, and he took the last year
at Princeton Seminary. He served in several churches before
coming to Lewes and went from here to Cold Spring Presby-
terian Church, Cape May, New Jersey. He died in 1909 in
Philadelphia of heart trouble,. ~zht davs after completing his
76th birthday and is buried in the Cr pring Cemetery, Cape
May County, New Je¢ :3y. He ceived a doctorate at New
Windsor, Maryland in 1890. He was married October 27,
1864 in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania to Miss Kate K. Smith.

Reverend Lewis Cathell Wainwright
1893 - 1903

He was born in Princess Anne, Maryland. After grad-
uvating from Princeton Seminary he served in Wyoming and
Pennsylvania and came to Lewes from Butte, Montana. From
here he went to Greenwich Presbvtena.n Church in Cumber-
land County, New Jersey.

Frank E. Williams
1903 - 1906

He and his wife, Mary Wallace Williams, came to Lewes
Presbyterian Church in answer to a call from the church
which had been without a pastor for several months He had
been living on his farm near Elkton where he had retired be-
cause of ill health, Previous to that he had been the pastor
of the Boundary Avenue Presbyterian Church in Balt:.more,
Maryland, for ten yes

Reverend Julius Adolphus Herold, D, D.
1907 - 1914

He was the son of Julius August Theodore and Julia
(Reichel) Herold, and was born March 27, 1861, in Berlin,
Germany. He studied under his father and special tutors
and at Calvin College in Ohio. He completed his course at
Franklin and Marshall College, from which he was graduated
in 1882. Entering the Semit 'y at Princeton in the fall of
the same year he took the fuu course and was graduated in
1885. Licensed the s~~e y¢ by the Presbytery of War-
minster, he was or¢ “ied by t~- F sbytery of Mahoning on
April 27, 1886. He c¢a e to rewes | »m Logan Memorial
Church in Audubon, Inew Jersey ana stayed seven years



when he resigned to accept the call of the Wicomico Presby-
terian Church in Salisbury, Maryland. He died at Ocean City,
Maryland of Bright's disease in the fifty-sixth year of his
age and is buried in the graveyard at Lewes. He was twice
married (1) October 1, 1890 in Philadelphia to Adelaide Read
Huston, who died in 1809 and is also buried in the graveyard
at Lewes: (2) June 22, 1911 in Lewes, Delaware to Migs
Elizabteth Grey Leng, daughter of Henry Long. After his
death the second Mrs. Herold conducted a very select private
school in Salisbury for many years, She died in 1955 and is
buried in the Lewes cemetery. The Reverend Mr. Hercld had
three children by his first marriage, two sons and one daugh-
ter.

Reverend Fred A. Kullmar
1915 - 1919

He was born at Jamesburg, New Jersey on February 28,
1886. Educated at Rutgers University, with the Bachelor of
Arts and Master of Arts degrees and at Princeton Theological
Seminary with the Bachelor of Divinity degree. He was or-
dained December 10, 1910, in the same service in which he
was installed pastor of the Presbyterian Church of Church-
ville, Maryland. He was married to Miss Mabel Durham of
Bel Air, Maryland July 14, 1915. She was a graduate of
Western Maryland College, “summa cum laude,” class of 1914.
Mr. Kullmar’s pastorate in Lewes was during World War I,
and our church went all out in service to the men in uniform
stationed here. Mr. Kullmar was pastor of the Bethel Preshy-
terian Church, Jarrettsville, Maryland, 1919 - 1626. In the
churchyard of the Bethel church are buried Mrs. Kullmar,
who died June 17, 1961, Fred A Kullmar, Jr., killed in battle
in Germany in 1944 and Colonel Malcolm Kullmar, awarded
the Bronze Star, the Silver Star, and the Croix de Guerre,
who died in 1963. Mr. Kullmar was pastor of the Warner
Memorial Presbyterian Church in Kensington, Maryland, 1926-
1937. He was honored as serving Vice Moderator one year
and as Moderator one year of the Presbytery of Washington
City. Mr. Kullmar was pastor of the First United Presby-
terian Church of Lake Worth, Florida, 1937 - 1980, retiring,
December 31, 1960, after fifty years in the active pastorate.
He has served as Moderator of the Presbytery of Southeast
Florida and as Moderator of Synod of Florida. He has travel-
ed extensively in our own country and in Europe, the Holy
Liand and the Near East. He has a daughter, Dorothy, a
son, Kenneth and five grandchildren. He lives in his home
at Lake Worth, Florida.
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Reverend Isaiah Mench Chambers, D. D.
1920 - 1922

He was born at Mifflinburg, Penngylvania, May 22, 1865.
Educated at Lafayette College and Union Theological Semin-
ary, he was ordained by the Presbytery of West Jersey.
Lewes was his second charge; he came here from Merchant-
ville, New Jersey and left after two years. He received his
Doctor of Divinity from Lafayette College in 1912. He was
a ptltgt of exceptional merit and published a volume of his
works. :

Reverend William Leishman, D. D,
1923 - 1958

He served the longest pastorate of any minister of the
Lewes Church exceeding that of the Reverend Dr. Matthew
Wilson by one year. Born in Edinburgh, Scotland on Decem-
ber 13, 1884, he was the son of Robert and Jane (Hurd) ,
Leishman. His preliminary education was gained in Scotland.
Emigrating to this country in 1905, he celebrated bis twenty-
first birthday while travelling on a vessel that took one
month of a stormy passage to reach the United States. He
attended the Christian and Missionary Alliance Institute at
Nyack, New York and w graduated with a Bachelor of
Divinity degree fr¢ . Princeton Seminary. He w.  ordained
by the Presbytery of Monmoi 1, April 13, 1915. His first
charge was at Stewartstown, Pe iylvania and he came to
lLewes from BEastlake Presbytenan Church in Wilmington,
Delaware. During his term of study at Princeton, he served
two Presbyterian Churches, one at Plainshoro, New Jersey
and another at Bustleton, New Jersey. Washington College,
Tennessee, conferred upon him a Doctorate of Divinity in
1935. He married Ruth Estelle Herrman in West Pittstown,
Pennsylvania in September 1907, and they became the parents
of five children, three of whom are living. His son, Hugh
Kenyon Leishman, is also a Presbyterian minister. In 1926,
the congregation sent Dr. Leishman to Scotland to visit his
mother whom he had not seen since leaving that counfry as
a youth, He married twice again: (1) Mrs. Blanche Fulion
Strawbridge, who died in 1956 and (2) Mrs. Nell Kilgore
Posey of Lancaster, Pennsylvania, who survives him. In 1935
he became Clerk of New Castle Presbytery and was active
in that position until his death on July 16, 1958. A memorial
service, attended by the congregation and members of the
clergy, was held on Saturday, July 19, 1958. He is buried in
the Lewes Presbyterian churchyard with his first wife and
a son, James, who died in early manhood.
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Reverend James Arlen -Mays
1958 - 1965

, He was born September 25, 1933.in Green County, Green-
ville, Tennessee, the son of James Allen and Willie Gladys
Mays. After graduating from Maryville College (cum laude)
he received his Bachelor of Div ty at Princeton Theological
Seminary. He served one .year as Minister to youth at War-
minster Presbyterian Church, Warminister, Pennsylvania be-
fore coming to Lewes. After seven years at Lewes Church
he was dismissed to serve as Development, Organizing Pastor
of the Seaford Presbyterian Church. He resides in Seaford
with his wife, Bettye Jo, and their two sons and one daughter.

Reverend John Burton Shaw
. 1965 -

He is the son of Reverend and Mrs. S. Benjamin Shaw
and was born in York County, Pennsylvania April 21, 1930.
He was graduated from Pennsylvania State College in 1951

and from Princeton Thec® ~ ~ Seminary in 1956 and was
ordained by the Presbyte Jonegal. He served Presby-
terian churches at New ( New Jersey and Greenwich
(Cumaberland County), N ey before he and his wife,

Gladys Hansen, came to L¢ es with their two young sons to
become our present minister.
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The Old Session Book

_ One of the most valued possessions of the Pre yterian
Church is the “Session or Record Book of the Affairs of the
Unifed Congregation of Lewes Town and Cool Spring in the
County of Sussex in the Delaware Government”.

It was begun in 1756 by the Reverend Matthew Wilson
“in obedience to an act of Synod of Philadelphia, enjoining
every congregation to keep exac egistry of baptisms, mar-
riages and funerals”. He conscientiously performed this
Synod injunction throughout i” : entire thirty-four years of
his ministry. The first marriage he entered in the book was
that of Captain JoI Shankl-—~ to Sally Marsh, daughter of
Peter and Agnes, Febrnary 768. On February 28, 1769,
e officiated at the funer' s es8 of Naomi Waranton who
had had six husbands. nwundreds of dates are recorded in
hig snzall, crabbed hand. Here and there, a relationship, cause
of death, identity of an important persons or event is em-
phasized in red ink, for which he had a penchant. When one
considers that a penman two hundred years ago had to shave
a goose quill fine enough to write and then mix his own ink,
we realize the effort incuz  in preserving for posterity these
dates that would otherwise have been lost. The book was
purchased by Elizabeth Hall, wife of Captain David Hall, Sr.,
with funds she &olicited from the members and presented to
the session by her on May 9, 1758. It is 17 inches long, by 7
inches wide, covered in rough, unglazed leather and cost one
pound. Some years ago, all the loose leaves were gathered
together, laminated and the book rebound. Regrettably many
of the pages are missing. Although this means a loss of
records for a generation, it is still one of the best sources
for such dates of any Delaware church, with the possible
exception of those of Old Swede’s Church in Wilmington.

In the early 1700’s, there was a great migration of
Scotch and Irish Presbyterians to America fleeing persecu-
tion by the English monarchy. In 1723 there were two hun-
dred Presbyterian famili ~ Delaware with many settling
in eastern Sussex County. Tne church began with one Presby-
tery in America called the Presbytery and organized at Phila-
delphia in 1706. Later, in 1716, as the church grew in size,
the Presbytery divided into the Presbyteries of Philadelphia,
New Castle, Long Island and Snow Hill. When the New
Castle Presbytery “vided - — "~ the Lewes Presbytery was
born and continuea untit 1 . 1en it was dissolved. Wher-
ever Preshyterians went t* y took their Presbyterianism with
them and were thoroughly d “"ked by Anglicans, Quakers
and the Pennsylvania Dutch. wneir seasion (church elders)
performed the functions of moral courts in regions where they
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were far more effc-*ive th-— 2 ril courts could have been.
During the pastor : of Josepn Copes, a “Ball or frolick was
made in the house of a n not known to the Sessi~— as a
member of any branch of .ae Christian Church. At thuac time
and place in 1809 some young people who had been solemnly
devoted to God-and carefully educated in this church were

present and engage iIn nish practice of dancing.
They were consea: tly a member of the Session
with a view to 1 ir coni they appeared before the
Session and declared the ake no promise to refrain
from the like practice in It was therefore resolved
that a2 written memorial . 1 in the church concealing
their names and that th entered in the records of

the Session with their names therein annexed.”

During Wilson’s astorate “common fame proclaimed
greatly to the scandai of t1 Church of Christ in this place
that an clder behaved or conaucted himself in an unchristian,
unjust and inhuman manner toward a dead man found on the
beach of Lewestown.” The matter was duly examined and
the defendant zned a deposition before a corner’s jury held
over the said arowned man. He stated that he saw his son
and his negro slave, Tomni, find a drowned man on Lewestown
beach from whom they took a purple cloth coat with yellow
buttons, a jacket, a pair of shoes, one shirt and silk handker-
chief from about the neck of the man. In the pocket of the
coat there was a box of razors and two pocket handkerchiefs,
one gold ring and one assignet of twenty-five livres, all of
which have been since delive d up.” The Session admonished
and rehuked him, and the defendant willingly acknowledged
his sin. Therefore he was restored to the full communion of
ghe church and to his former standing as an Elder of the

ession.

Temperance was the suhject of Presbyterial action, Ses-
sions were advised “that they exercise much vigilance and
fidelity in guarding the ordinances of abptism and the Lord’s
supper from the approach of habitual and occasional drunk-
ards. Many references may be found in the Session book re-
garding those upon whom citations were served who “walked
in an unsteady fashion, were seen in an intoxzicated condition
or reputed to have indulged in the sinful use of alcohol.” The
Reverend William C. H-~ " in 1858 noted in his funeral regis-
try the death of one of ¢ zregation as “thrown from his
sulkey at night while mroxicated and dragged for several
miles home - dead when fo-~1 - a frightful accident, full of
fearful warning to the inehmate and a fearful responsibility
to those who furnished him with the alcohol.” Thus the old
session book makes for lively reading and abounds with in-
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Reverend W. W. Reese became the first pastor. At a meet-
ing of the Session in 1876, application for certificates of
membership were accepted and letters of dismissal granted
to approximately seventy-five members of the Lewes Church
to join the church at Midway.

The Women's Foreign Missionary Society was formed
in 1889 with the wife of the pastor, Mrs. David Laverty,
elected as its first president. Reorganized in 1901 with 35
)énembers it was renamed “The Ladies Foreign Missionary

ociety.”

A permanent Usher's Association was started February
8, 1904, consisting of all male members, and the dues were
fifty cents per anpum. They met quarterly, and in addition
to their duties as ushers, some sociability was enjoyed. It
was the closest thing to a man’s organization the church had
had up to this time.

A ladies Aid Society existed which fnifilled certain obli-
gations that were important and necessary to the material
needs of the church.

Mrs. Kelly's Sunday School class, known as the Kelly
Class today, originated as a class of adult young women of
the Sunday School with Mrs. George Tunnell as its first
teacher. Several other ladies of the church taught at inter-
vals and finally Mrs. James Kelly, who had been superintend-
ent of the Sunday School, took over all shepherded this en-
terprising group of ladies for many years. They function
today as possibly the most vital and active group of women
workers in every area of the church’s interests.

At one time a Historical Committee was appointed to care
for old and valuable papers relating to the church. This com-
mittee consisted of Miss Clara Wilson, Mrs. Louis Mustard
and Mrs, Lena Tammany. Later Mr. Edwin Marshall and
Mrs. Anna Metcalf were added to the group.

The Young People’s Association was organized in 1888
and continued a.ctive?y for over forty years, It is incredible
to read in their minutes of their accomplishments and of their
generosity to the church.

The first Children’s Day service was celebrated on June
12, 1887,

The Christian Endeavor Society was organized in 1915
and was at first combined with the Wednesday evening Ser-
vice on September the fifteenth of that year.

The Presbyterian Sunday School observed its first Rally
Day Service on Sunday, September 26, 1897.
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The children’s choir was formed and made their first
appearance at the morning service on April 8, 1931.

The first Candle Light Service was held on December
16, 1934. This service has became an annual event which
affords pleasure ad is the source of spiritual uplift to the
whole community at Christmas.

The United Presb' 2rian Women’s Association was
formed on Nov 1ber 2&, 1 5, with Mrs. Hannah (Dodd)
Thompson elected as its first president.

An organization of men had existed for some years with
Raymond Atking as its first president. However, it was not
formally chartered until December 3, 1956 during the pres-
idency of George Chappell.

The church at Rehoboth (Midway) was dedicated Octo-
ber 6, 1854.

The church at Milton was dedicated June 15, 1834,

The second church at Coolspring was dedicated January
14, 1855.
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Governor Ebe Walter Tuni  , Ruling Elder of the church,

was born at Blackwater, Sussex County, December 31, 1844.
lis political life began. in 1870 when he wayg elected to the
State Legislature overcoming a large opposition majority in
his home district. Removing to Lewes in 1872, he engaged
in the drug and hardware business with his brother-in-law,
Doctor 1 vid Lewis . stard. He was elected as the Jem-
ocratic candidate for tsovernor in 1897 and served until .1901.
He and several other persons published the forerunner of
The Delaware Pilot known then as The Breakwater Light and
now called The Delaware Coast Press. The Breakwater Light
was printed on pink paper. G- 2r1 ° Tunnell never married.
He died December 8, 1917 ¢ 1 is buried in the church yard.

Congressman Robert G. Houston was born on October 13,
1867 in Milton, Delaware, the son of Dr. David Henry Hous-
ton and his wife Comfort (Hitchens) Houston. He married
Margaret White of Lewes on December 20, 1888, and they
became the parents of ree children: John Wallace, deceased,
Mrs. Thomas Robinson and Miss Elizabeth Houston. both of
whom reside in Georgetown, Delaware. He achieved a dis-
tinguished career as at'~ney, newspaper editor and Congress-
man. His death on January 29, 1 5 marked the passing of
one of the truly notable figures in Delaware life and affairs.
He is buried in the Lewes graveyard with his wife and other
members of hisg family. He served as Congressman for three
terms from 1925 to 1933.

Honorable John Wallace Houston wag born at Concord,
Sussex County on May 4, 1814, the son of John and Elizabeth
(Wiltbank) Houston. His early education was gained in the
schools of his native county, and from there he prepared for
college at Newark Academy. In 1830 he entered Yale and was
graduated in 1834. At the age of tewnty-seven he was ap-
pointed Secretary of State and in 1846 was elected repres-
entative from Delaware to Congress where he served three
successive terms before he was thirty-six years old. After
the completion of his last term in Congress he returned to the
Ersactice of law and in 1855 was elevated to the bench as

sociate Judge of the State of Delaware resident in Kent
County. He was the author of a learned and exhaustive paper
on the boundary lines between Delaware and each of its
adjoining States. He was also ex-officio reporter of the
judicial decisions of the courts  Delaware and compiled the
volumes known as “Houston's Kenorts.” In 1861 he was
elected to the famous Peace Con_ ‘ss held at Washington,
D. C. After & long and e nent career, this fine citizen of
the State and Nation was laid to rest with his family in the
Lewes churchyard.
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Ambassador George Strausser Messersmith, Diplomat,
was the son of Charles and Sarah (Strausser) Messersmith
and was born on October 3, 1883 at Fleetwood, Pennsylvania.
He had been referred to as a “schoolmaster turned diplomat”
because of his many years in the field of education before
becoming consul to Fort Erie, Canada in 1914, He had a
remarkable carer of service to hs country for more than
three decades and served for two years as Assistant Secretary
of State. He died in Mexico in 1960. He married Marion Lee
Mustard, daughter of Beater Lewis West Mustard and Virg-
inia (Hickman) Mustard, on July 22, 1914 at Lewes. He is
interred in the Lewes cemetery with his wife who died in
1366.

David Wolfe Brown, was born in Philadelphia in 1835
and received his education there. After a varied career which
included the study of law, phonograpbv and the publisher of
the Congressional Globe, he became { 3 official reporter of
the House of Representatives in W gton. Hz wife was
Joanna Wolfe, daughter of Henry Woure, Ruling Elder of the
church. He died in 1904, and the National Shorthand Re-
porters’ association erected a monument over his grave in
the Lewes cemetery in his memory inscribed “In recognition
of hig great service to the profession.”



Social Activities

There are few people living today who can remember
when the church was the center of both social and spiritual
life. It is with pensive nostalgia that one listens to the ac-
counts of affairs that added not onlv to the revenue of the
church but afforded pleasure and enjoyment to its members:
supvers served at Green Hill parlors. Martha Washington teas,
strawberry and ice cream festivals, bazaars and skits such
as “Aunt Hannah’s Quilting Party,” to speak of a few.

One reads in the Delaware Pilot, of May 1891 of a par-
ticularly charming occasion—a lawn party given at the
regidence of the Misses McIlvaine. This lovely old home
was located on Gil’s Neck road. furnished with beautiful
furniture and occupied by gentle people. ““The spacious
grounds decked here and there with tree that have withstood
the storms for centuries were lighted with torches and
Chinese lanterns a 1 decorated with the “Stars and Stripes”,
which waved gracetully in the evening breeze. The children
sported in various plays amid the trees while the elders
looked on and ta™ d of : days gone byv. Tables here and
there were spreaa on the grounds which were soon filled
with those eager for refreshments. No charge was made for
the ice cream and cake, but each participant put in a dona-
tion as his conscience prompted. Awmong the pleasures of
the evening was the rendering of several selections by the
Lewes male quartet. It was a very pretty scene indeed, the
assembling of so many of different ages ranging from in-
fancy to late years to enjoy the social hour at this old house.”

At a New Year's party in 1898 the main attraction was a
novelty tree upon which packages were placed for auction.
Neck chains of popcorn with colored ribbons were provided
for the gentleman which he was to match with that of a
lady at the party. The couple were then weighed, and the dif-
ference in their weight cost the man one cent a pound, plus
fifteen cents for his partner's supper.

In 1896 an oldtime New England supper was given hy
the Young People’s Asgociation” at the Parlors. The heat
from the open grate in one room and the open fire in another
kindled the memories and r¢ ~ "icenses of the older guests.
Ghost stories were told ana nddles given to provide the
entertainment. The supper menu consisted of Boston baked
beans with pork, brown bread, pumpkin pie, dough-nuts and
coffee, garmished with New England apples.

They had their musical evenings too, with sometimes as
many as eighty guests, such as the one held to celebrate the
ninth annual reunion of the Young People’'s Association in
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1897, astrumental music was played by Proiessor James
Bingham and Miss Bingham, a select reading was given by
Miss Beard and vocal solos by Miss Margaret Lyons. The
Glee Club also rendered several selections.

A brilliant and unusual scene was presented at the an-
nual Christmas Sunday School party in 1892. Instead of the
oft-repeated Christmas tree, a full-rigged ship, beautifully
decorated and lighted named “The Star in the East”, was
glaced in front of the choir platfo . richly laden with con-

ections and gifts for all.

At Cool Spring Church a Sterioptican was given of
Biblical scenes and “other amusing pictures” which was free
for members, and a fee of ten cents was charged outsiders
to meet expenses.

The annual Sunday School picnic was eagerly anticipated
by everyone, young and old. For many years they picnicked
in the woods near Coolspring church. Several times a train
was chartered to Queenstown, and from there they went to
Love’s Point, Maryland. Later the automobile made it pos-
Sibtliito drive to Oak Orchard on the Indian River for a day's
outing.

The Presbyterian women were known far and wide for
their ¢ ellent cooking and whenever hey Zave a supper or
food sale; cutomers were never lacking. In 1904 they com-
piled a booklet entitled “Tested ILewes Recipes.” In leafing
through one of the copies, which have become rather rare to
locate, I found many recipes that are simple to make, indig-
enous to the locale and sound petizing to ' » taste. Each
recipe hears the name of the coock who supmitted it, most
of whom are no longer with —~ but in reading their names
and the examples of their culinary art, memories are avoked
of good eating and pleasant events long gone by.

The benefit projects were legion, and, no matter what
the goal, the mone, w~— raised and each and every person
did his part. An accounc vould be | ren for pages and might,
in some instances, be viewed with amusement. However, at
the same time, one wonders if, in today’s more sophisticated
world, we are not lo 1g out on the very things that make
life really worth while, the aring of work and simple
pleasures in a common endeavor with our fellow man.
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The Lewes Presbyterian Church
Communion Service

A silver communion service, comprising & flagon and
two chalices, is a cherished possession of the church. These
vessels do not bear an inscription but are known to have
been presented by Colonel Samuel Boyer Davis, the defender
of Lewes during the bombardment « this town by the British
in the War of 1812. He was the great grandson of the Rev-
erend Samuel Davis who preached to the Presbyterians here
as early as 1692. “The flagon has a plain cylindrcal body
with a splayed foot, a long lip, a domed cover, and an orna-
mental thumb piece. The height of the flagon is 1214 inches
and the diameter of its base is 614 inches The maker’s hall-
mark, Bailey & Company, is that of a Philadelphia concern
that began work there in 1850. As Colonel Davis died in
September of 1854, these silver vessels must have been made
shortly before or after his death and, in either case, are
among the early examples of the craftsmanship of this firm.
Bach chalice is 8 in " 25 hig and has a bell-shaped cup with
a molded edge with a st« sioping for 414 inches to a splay-
ed foot, The maker’s mark on th e pieces is the same as the
one on the flagon. They may be seen at the Zwaanendael
Museum where they are kept for public display.
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Veterans Buried in the Lewes Cemetery

This list does not include veterans after the Civil War.

Revolutionary War

Colonel David Hall
(Governor)
Dr. Joseph Hall
Aaron Marshall
Colonel Henry Neill.
Joshua Hall
Dr. Matthew Wilson
Hugh Smith
Samuel Leepe
Thomas Marshall
Henry L. Mcllvaine
Hugh Dulaney

War of 1812

David Mcllvaine

Captain Peter White
Lieutenant Hugh Delany
H. M. Dwyer

Jacob Jeffries

James Rowland

Richard Howard
Benijamin McIlvaine
David Walker

War of 1812 (Continued)

Robert Orr

James Mcllvaine
William Shankland
William Russell
Woolsey Waples
Selby Hitchens
John Houston
Thomas Rowland
Thomas Bell
Reece Wolfe
Thomas Howard
Dr. John White
Dr. Henry Fisher Hall

Civil War

Dr, David Henry Houston
John W. Houston

Jacob Art Russell

George Musgrove

Fred Vogel

Alred Lee Burton
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Ruling Elders of the United Congregation of Lewes,
Coolspring, Indian River and the Lewes Congregation

Abel Nottingham
Captain David Hall, Sr.
Robert Shankland
John Coulter

Gil Belcher Parker
John Harmonson
Isaac Fleming
Hamilton Craig
William Rodney
William Waples
Dr. Joseph Hall
Nathaniel Waples
Josias Martin
Archibald Hapkins
John Martin
Emanuel Russell
Robert Coulter
William Peery
Benjamin Prettyman
John Stockley
William Virden
David Stephenson
William Hopkins
Governor David Halt
Poter White

John Orr

John Stephenson
Robert Houston
David Mustard
David Richards
Levi Hargis
Aaron Marvel
Thomas Marsh
Robert Hunter
William Shanktand
John Paynter
Marneux Virden
James Hudsocn
William Russell
James Dutton
James Martin
Hugh Smith
Anthony Vickars
Captain Joseph Waples
James Newhold
Thomas Rowland

1756
1756
1756
1756
1756
1756
1756
1756
1756
1796
1796
1796
1809
1792
1812,
1792
1792
1796
1796
1799
1796
1796
1796
1801
1801
1802
1809
1800
1800
1800
1802
1811
1810
1817
1817
1817
1796
1817
1817
1793
1787
1808
1808
1818
1820
1820
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Peter Waples

Dr. Simon K. Wilson
Colonel Simon Kollock
Philip Marvel

Isaac Waples
Corneliug Waples

Eli Carey

Stephen Harris

Dr. Henry Fisher Hall
Lewis West

David Walker

John Paynter

James Fergus Martin
James Martin
William Perry

Gideon Waples
Gideon Perry

Eligsha D. Cullen
Robert Waples
Rohert Harris

Peter J. Hopkins
David Richards
Robert B. Houston
Benjamin White
Thomas Walker
Henry Marshall
Aaron Marshall
James H. Russell
Henry Wolfe

John Futcher

Thomas Walker
Edward S. Tunnell
Dr, David H. Bouston
William E. Bingham
John M. Futcher

Dr. David Hall

Dr, David L. Mustard
Edward Russell
Thomas B. Schellenger
Alfred L. Burton
Governor Ebe Tunnell
James Kelly

George Bohm

George P. Tunnell
Willilam E. Tunnell
Dr. Joseph Martin

1813
1824
1796
1832
1824
1824
1835
1835
1832
1832
1832
1835
1835
1835
1835
1831
1835
1839
1839
1839
1840
1844
1839
1855
1855
1850
1848
18564
1855
1854
1854
1873
1873
1873
1873
1881
1881
1881
1835
1885
1801
1901
1901
1901
1917
1917



ELDERS -— Continued

Thomas C. Marshall

Edward W. Wiltbank

Thomas R. Duffell
J. William Hocker
John M. Thompson
Joseph L. Marshall
Edwin C. Marshall
John M. Vessels

1924

1924
1924
1924
1930
1240
1940
1945

Dr. Ervin L. Stambaugh 1945

Dr. Walter Andress
William D. Collinsg

John E. McGovern

Leon H. Farrin

William T. Atkins

1945
1945
1945
1957

1945

Halgey' Knapp
Thomas Orr
Charles E. Mitchell
Clifford L. Trader
George F, Chappell
Robert Faust
Richard Demnis
Raymond R. Atlking
Rupert Hall
Ralton Dennis
Frank Larsen
Walter Clavier

Reverend Littleton Purnell Bowen, D. D.

The Reverend Littleton Purnell Bowen, D. D. was born
June 5, 1833 and lived to the age of ninety-nine years lacking
fifty-eight days of being one hundred.

He came to Lewes, Delaware at the age of 18 and taught
school in the old Brick church. Upon returning to the scene
of his youth, circa 1919, he was inspired to write the poem
“Revisited.” Our denomination owes a debt of gratitude to
him because of his unending search in locating the grave of
Francis Makemie under a cow-pound in Virginia. He never
rested until he saw the land purchased and the sacred spot
dignified by the monument of this great man.
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1958
1958
1958
1959
1959
1960
1962
1962
1963
1964
1865
1966



In reviewing the past there is much for which to thank
God and especially for the presence of his spirit within us.
To quote the words of an early minister, the Reverend Wil-
liam C. Handy, “May he continue to assist us in our work
and bless us still more closely and cause this portion of his
vineyard to bud and blossom as the rose.” May we, in turn,
pledge ourselves in umited efforts ¢o achieve better attendance
in worship services, support our church with time and talent
and press on toward the goal of the high calling of God;
growing in grace and knowledge of our Lord and Savior,
Jesus Christ.
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